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Trustees Annual Report 
 

The trustees present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017.  

Reference and administrative information set out on page 1 forms part of this report. The financial statements 

comply with current statutory requirements, the memorandum and articles of association and the Statement 

of Recommended Practice - Accounting and Reporting by Charities: SORP applicable to charities preparing their 

accounts in accordance with FRS 102. 

 

The trustees review the aims, objectives and activities of the charity each year. This report looks at what the 

charity has achieved and the outcomes of its work in the reporting period. The trustees report the success of 

each key activity and the benefits the charity has brought to those groups of people that it is set up to help. 

The review also helps the trustees ensure the charity's aims, objectives and activities remained focused on its 

stated purposes.  The trustees have referred to the guidance contained in the Charity Commission's general 

guidance on public benefit when reviewing the charity's aims and objectives and in planning its future 

activities. In particular, the trustees consider how planned activities will contribute to the aims and objectives 

that have been set. 

 

Our purpose and aims 
 

ChildHope works with children facing extreme marginalisation in already poor communities, children whose 

support and protection has been stripped away, leaving them seriously at risk.  

 

ChildHope’s objects, as set out in the Memorandum and Articles of Association are 

“… the relief of need, hardship and distress arising there from among those persons known as street children 

being children and young people who live without the proper support of parents or other guardians and without 

proper and adequate shelter and the protection of the mental and physical health of such persons all with a 

view to improving their conditions of life so that they may grow to full maturity as individuals and members of 

the community. The prevention or relief of poverty and social exclusion among children at risk of becoming 

street children, through co-coordinated work with the children themselves, their families, communities and 

other non-governmental and governmental agencies” 

 

Strategic framework 2016-2020  
  

Please go to our website www.childhope.org.uk to access the full strategic framework. 

 

Our Vision is a world in which all children enjoy a life free from injustice and abuse  

Our Mission is to build the strengths that exist in children, families, institutions and local communities so that 

children can thrive and grow up to become empowered citizens  

Our Values are grounded in work with partner organisations, building on local strengths and capabilities to 

address the failures and gaps in existing protection. We aim to be trustworthy and transparent, accountable 

to children, our partners, our supporters and our donors 

 

 
 
 

 

http://www.childhope.org.uk/


ChildHope (UK) 
Trustees’ annual report 
For the year ended 31 December 2017 

3 

Our Themes 
 

There are three areas where ChildHope has tested and refined our work based on nearly 30 years of 

experience.  It is these areas where we have a particularly strong focus. 

 

• Protection:  To better understand why and how children are exploited, abused, neglected and denied 

their rights, and how we can work together to protect and empower them.  

• Participation:  We believe that the most effective and best-targeted programmes listen to what children 

themselves have to say about the injustices they face and how to address them.  

• Promoting Learning:  For children who have lost the support of family and community, and who have 

no other means of stability, access to education is crucial to their wellbeing. It is a route to new 

opportunities and better life chances.  Simply enabling children to access education is not enough.  

Education must be relevant, safe, empowering and must not discriminate.   

 

Our Approach 
 

ChildHope’s approach relies, first and foremost, on local partnerships. Our partners are committed to child 

rights and understand the context of children’s lives.  We share common values and deliver programmes that 

change the lives of children for the better.  We work with partners to secure and manage funding, to develop 

monitoring and reporting systems and to support with training, mentoring and learning.  By working with local 

organisations, we avoid the expense of running our own programme offices and reduce the potential risk of 

imposing unsuitable ‘outsider’ solutions on local issues. 

 

Ecological Model 
ChildHope approaches its work with 

children by first putting the child in the 

centre, looking at the layers of support the 

child needs. When designing programmes, 

ChildHope encourages children to 

recognise their own strengths and 

capabilities to overcome the challenges 

they face. We then look at those closest to 

the child – usually starting with the family 

(including extended family and close 

friendship groups) and radiating out.   

 

By addressing multiple layers we aim to 

minimise gaps in support and ensure 

everybody takes responsibility for the 

children they are connected to, from 

parents through to the international donor 

community and law makers. 

 

In this year’s report we connect the impact 

of our partners’ work to this approach. 
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Where we work 
 

With millions of children worldwide denied their rights, we have difficult choices to make when deciding where 

to work.  We choose to work in countries where analysis shows that children’s lives – through a combination 

of poverty and other factors – are threatened by serious injustice and abuse.  Following analysis of our 

countries of operation, we decided to end funded partnerships in Brazil during 2016 and to implement a 

gradual phase out of Peru by 2020. The economic growth of both these countries has resulted in increasing 

difficulty to source funding, although inequalities remain apparent in both. ChildHope did not feel able to 

achieve maximum value for money by continuing to seek funding for these two countries in South America in 

the long-term.    

 

Position on Human Development Index (out of 188, where 188 is lowest level of development) 

Africa Uganda (163) Asia South America 

Sierra Leone (179)   Tanzania (151) Nepal (144) Peru (87) 

Ethiopia (174) Kenya (146) Bangladesh (139)  

The Gambia (173)  India (131)  

 

 
Strategic Report 2017 

 
During 2017, new opportunities included the development of a partnership with Shakti Samuha, led by 

survivors of trafficking, in Nepal.  We completed a successful application for funding from DFID to implement 

a project starting early 2018.  Also during 2017 our first Girls’ Education Challenge Fund programme (GEC1) in 

Ethiopia came to an end and we successfully applied for a further four-year programme, supporting the same 

group of marginalised girls as they transition through the education system.  This means working with girls as 

they move into secondary school, a time of high numbers of drop-outs and vulnerability to early marriage in 

Ethiopia.  It will mean devising and testing new strategies to enable girls to continue and thrive in their 

education in the face of significant barriers. 

 

A group of Trustees and staff members formed a long-term strategic planning group during 2017.  Decisions 

made by the group included a commitment to improve communications, increase corporate engagement and 

further develop our child protection consultancy.  This led to the development of a new role of Development 

Director to take forward these areas of work. 

 

Progress with disability mainstreaming  
 

We recognise that the percentage of children with disabilities participating in our programmes is not 

representative of the number of disabled children in society.  We aim to enable ‘hidden’ children and young 

people with disabilities to become more visible and for our projects to become more accessible to them.  In 

2017 we brought partner organisations together for a workshop raising awareness of disability issues and 

enabling partners to question themselves and ChildHope about how to achieve increased inclusion.  Wherever 

possible, disability mainstreaming approaches are being built into budgets and plans, to enable ChildHope 

programmes to be more inclusive.  
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Child Protection and Safeguarding 
 
During 2017 we continued to strengthen and grow our multi-agency approaches to child protection and 

safeguarding, which we plan to expand further in 2018. Our monthly ‘Lunch and Learn’ seminars attracted 

increasing numbers of individuals and agencies, keen to improve knowledge and skills and share good practice.  

We supported six UK-based organisations with training and consultancy to improve their policy and practice.  

Our Protection and Participation Manager has also been connecting ChildHope partners and contacts in our 

countries of operation, linking those who need more support in safeguarding and protection to those who can 

offer it.  We also continued to give tailored support to each of our partners, to improve their capacity to protect 

the children they work with, and to train or support others where they have the capacity to do so.  ChildHope’s 

long-term strategy plans prioritise the further development and expansion of all these areas of work in 2018 

and beyond. 

 
2017 in numbers 

 

All of ChildHope’s work aims to achieve change for children in six dimensions, which assess changes in 

 

1. Children’s participation in decision-making and inclusion 

2. Protection from violence and abuse 

3. Context (laws and policy) 

4. Health and well-being 

5. Access to quality education 

6. Livelihoods options 
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The information below shows numbers of children and adults receiving direct support from our partner 

organisations through projects supported by ChildHope. We are still working on the inclusion of meaningful 

disability data in our quantitative reporting.  While we have the capacity to disaggregate in our ChildHope 

database, we still need to work with partners to increase inclusion in programming and to develop the means 

to disaggregate through partners’ own reporting systems.  This capacity will increase as we build disability 

inclusion into new grants, with monitoring systems to match. 

 

When we refer to children, we use the UN definition of people under 18 years of age.  However, in some 

contexts, when young people are particularly vulnerable, we may continue to support them up to 25 years old. 

The adults in the tables below are parents, teachers, community leaders and other people over 18 years old 

who benefit directly from the work of our projects and contribute to the improvements in the lives of children 

and young people. 

 

Table 1:  Numbers of children reached, by dimension 
 

Dimension 
Africa 
girls 

Africa 
boys 

Asia 
girls 

Asia 
boys 

Peru 
girls 

Peru 
boys 

Total 
girls 

Total 
boys TOTAL 

Changes in children's 
participation in decision 
making and Inclusion 5,913 3,626 970 1,894 58 47 6,941 5,567 12,508 

Changes in levels of 
protection from violence and 
abuse experienced by 
children 7,063 2,676 1,465 2,343 9 8 8,537 5,027 13,564 

Changes in children's health 
and well-being 239 622 9,228 9,997 0 0 9,467 10,619 20,086 

Changes in access to quality 
education 17,149 344 1,387 1,520 3,886 4,081 22,422 5,945 28,367 

Changes in livelihoods 
options 

221 0 204 61 145 158 570 219 789 

 

Table 2: Numbers of children reached, by continent 

  
  Girls Boys Total 

Africa 26,908 6,646 33,554 

Asia 9,895 10,878 20,773 

South America 4,045 4,226 8,271 

Total    40,848 21,750 62,598 

 

Table 3:  Numbers of women and men reached, by dimension 
 

Dimension Women Men Total 

Changes in children's participation in decision making and inclusion 110 122 232 

Changes in levels of protection from violence and abuse experienced by children 4,345 2,748 7,093 

Changes in context (law and policy) 226 28 254 

Changes in health and well-being 793 528 1,321 

Changes in access to quality education 1,066 1,573 2,639 

Changes in livelihoods options 933 531 1,464 
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Table 4:  Numbers of women and men reached, by continent 
 

  Women Men Total 

Africa 1,733 674 2,407 

Asia 4,700 4,046 8,746 

South America 929 406 1,335 

Total 7,362 5,126 12,488 

 
Where our money goes 
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Feedback from partners about ChildHope’s support 
 

ChildHope seeks feedback from partners throughout the year in a number of ways (e.g. during monitoring 

visits and as part of donor reporting processes), enabling us to reflect on and improve our practice.  We also 

carry out an annual partner survey, which enables ChildHope and partners to look back on the year and 

consider what impact ChildHope has had, and how this may improve in the future.  As well as the six dimensions 

that relate to impact on children’s lives, we have a further six dimensions related to our direct work with 

partners.  These six dimensions focus on ChildHope’s support to partners that enables them to operate more 

effectively in the following areas 

 

• Children’s rights to participation, protection and inclusion 

• Management, leadership, strategy and governance 

• Managing resources 

• Securing resources 

• Learning 

• Influencing 

 

Partnership development 
Partners were asked to consider the main ways that Childhope has supported them during 2017, out of our six 

dimensions.  The three most popular areas were 

 

1. Ability to deliver programmes which promote children’s rights to participation, protection and inclusion 

2. Ability to access resources to sustain the work 

3. Ability to apply learning, internally and externally 

 
The area we need to focus on strengthening is in supporting partners to increase their influence at local, 
regional, national or international level.  Where this was successful, the opportunity to come to the UK and 
directly meet supporters and donors, is particularly appreciated. 

 

…we have maintained a constant relationship of exchange of ideas, both in terms of theory and methodology, 

through workshops, discussions via Skype, all of which has enriched us as an institution; this increases especially 

during the project’s monitoring visits                                                                                                       (Peru partner) 
 

Partners reported that ChildHope had contributed most to their work in the following areas (out of sixteen 
options) 
 
1. How they develop, implement, monitor and evaluate policies for inclusion 
2. The way ChildHope acts as a ‘critical friend’ in organisational development 
3. Supporting children and young people to access quality education 

 

ChildHope continued its support through a training of trainers on Child Protection, a training on disability and 
livelihoods, and continuous support in the governance and management of the organisation. Support from 
ChildHope goes beyond project implementation and monitoring. They have always ensured that developmental 
aspects that would enhance the smooth functioning of a partner organisation are supported.        (Africa partner)    

 

The area the survey results showed us we need to improve is in communicating the effectiveness of the impact 
of partners’ work.  Improving our communications is a current ChildHope priority.  
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ChildHope’s contribution to partners’ work with children and young people 
We asked partners how and where ChildHope’s support had had a direct impact on their work with children 

and young people.  The main areas identified were 

 

1. Levels of protection from violence and abuse experienced by children 

2. Children’s participation in decision-making and inclusion 

3. Changes in access to quality education 

 

Child Protection Advisor of ChildHope UK imparted a two days training on Case Management and Counselling 
to improve the capacity of the staff to ensure child protection. During that time, she also reviewed our Child 
Protection Policy and she also helped update the Policy in a participatory manner.                          (Asia partner)  

 

Partners reported less impact in 2017 around children’s health and well-being, which reflects the fact that we 

have no grants with a specific health focus.   

 

Disability Inclusion 
100% of partners responding to the survey said that we have supported them to increase the inclusion of 

children and young people with disabilities in their programming. 

 

What has been most helpful is the realisation that we could help children with disabilities to be part of our 

programmes, focussing on what we can do for them, instead of looking at the challenges of what we cannot 

do.                                                                                                                                                                   (Africa partner) 

 

General feedback 
ChildHope’s partnership approach is key to working with our partners, and in turn our partners appreciate the 
relationship of trust that is built via transparent and open communications. Feedback reflected an appreciation 
that decisions are made with, not on behalf of partners, which contributes to feelings of mutual trust.  

 

When asked, no partners said that ChildHope had done anything unhelpful during 2017. 

 
We asked partners what more ChildHope could do to contribute to our partners’ development, and the most 
popular response was around developing opportunities to learn and share, participate in research and 
knowledge exchange, national, regional and international learning forums.  Also in high demand are support 
in the search for funding and development of monitoring and evaluation strategy and methodology. 

 

When asked what areas of learning they would like more support in, partners suggested (in order of demand) 

1. Fundraising, including strategy, ‘the art and science of fundraising’, coping with change in donor policy 

2. Disability inclusion and mainstreaming  

3. Monitoring and evaluation; change management; leadership skills; volunteer and HR management; 

gender; education in emergencies; non-cognitive skills in education settings; child safeguarding and do 

no harm approaches; children and young people’s participation in governance; the relevance of the 

SDGs to programming; applying and monitoring progress on the UN General Comment for Children in 

Street Situations 

It is clearly very difficult for ChildHope to provide support in all the areas identified.  Further discussion with 

partners, connected with development of our strategic priorities, will help to inform us about which areas we 

will be able to address most effectively. 
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Child protection and safeguarding  
 

This is the fourth year that we have asked partners to provide feedback specifically about child protection.  We 

were able to use the findings of previous surveys to shape our ongoing support to partners, individually and as 

a group. During 2017, we continued to provide dedicated support to partners through our full-time Child 

Protection and Participation Manager, giving us the opportunity to really improve the quality of support in this 

area. 

 

Day to day, our partners are dealing with many child protection issues, which are often complex and stressful.  

Project design, as well as capacity to identify, monitor and record issues, differs considerably from one partner 

to another, so we do receive different quality and depth of reporting across our group of partners and differing 

requests for support.  During 2018, as well as helping partners to address child protection issues, we will also 

continue to support them to develop ways to identify and report them more effectively.   

 

Reported issues 2017:  Our survey revealed that the highest number of cases reported were under the 

category of neglect by family members, followed by physical abuse by members of the community.  

Perpetrators: The majority of reported cases were perpetrated by family members, followed by members of 

the local community. 

 

Support received: Partners reported that they have been supported in the following ways by ChildHope 

during 2017 

• Review and revision of policy 

• Observation of practice with feedback 

• Disability inclusion training 

• Participation and protection training 

• Case management 

• Counselling 

• Training of trainers 

• How to do a child protection policy audit 

 

Support requested: Partners requested additional support during 2018 particularly in the following areas (in 

order of popularity) 

• Monitoring implementation of policy 

• Best practice and internationally recognised standards of protection; documenting and sharing best 

practice 

• Training of new staff and refresher training with all staff 

• Child protection in the context of child labour 

• Counselling 

• Case management 

• Safeguarding approaches 

• Protection toolkits 

• Supporting other organisations to develop policies 

 

Our Child Protection and Participation Manager will review the full survey results and develop a plan for 

2018/19 based on the feedback we’ve received.  
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How our partners contribute to change for children 
 

 

We view our annual report as the opportunity to both draw together 

a collective view of ChildHope’s progress over the year, 

demonstrating where and how the money we raise has been spent, 

as well as providing a summary of the work of each partnership.  The 

review below gives a brief analysis by region of each partnership and 

includes qualitative and quantitative information to illustrate 

progress.  The narrative below looks at how, with our partners, we 

have worked with the children themselves and the layers of support 

around them - family, community, wider society, governments and 

the international community - to meet the needs of the children we 

work with. 
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Africa 
 

The children reached by our partners in Africa often face severe poverty, violence and injustice which, in many 

cases, forces them to leave their homes in search of a ‘better life.’ Invariably, they end up in a situation of 

danger and exploitation, which they need support to escape from and turn their lives around. ChildHope is 

working with our partners in Africa to help make children’s lives safer, increase access to quality education, 

support children to stay and thrive in safer schools and educational institutions, improve livelihoods and 

challenge the violence and injustice children face at family, community and societal levels. 

 

Sierra Leone - Children Living and Working on Dumpsites  
 

Sierra Leone suffered a massive blow from the Ebola crisis in 2014 and 2015 and, in 2017, children in our 

project area were badly affected by serious mudslides which killed many people and destroyed homes and 

livelihoods.  A grant from Comic Relief for a project with Street Child of Sierra Leone (SCoSL), enables us to 

work with children, young people and their families living and working on four rubbish dumps in and on the 

outskirts of Freetown. 

 
Girls and Boys: The children in the project have experienced considerable hardship in their short lives and 
understandably take some time to get to know and trust the adults in their lives. Building a relationship of trust 
and confidentiality between the social workers and the children has been a priority and the success of the 
project motivated new children to engage positively in the project in 2017, as they see the benefits and positive 
impact of the intervention on the lives of their peers. 510 children were enrolled in school and supported with 
scholastic materials. 

  
Family:  225 street-connected children were reunited with their families.  30 families in greatest need were 
successfully relocated from the dumpsites to better and much safer accommodation. 314 families who 
received business support said they still find their businesses profitable and 276 confirmed that they can pay 
their rent from the business profits. 296 make regular savings and use their savings to add to their businesses. 
327 families reported that they can now provide appropriate clothing for their children, as and when the need 
arises. 
 
Learning Point:  A challenge highlighted in year 1 was almost 100% of children reporting little or no 
involvement in decision-making on issues affecting their lives, as parents refused to let them have a say. We 
tackled this by bringing children and families together in discussion on child protection and child rights. In 2017 
46% (247) of the 538 children reported that they are now involved in decisions on issues such as schools and 
clothing.   
 
Community: The project has worked hard to change community perceptions around street-connected 
children. Prior to the project, most community members had very little idea about what is meant by child 
abuse. They thought it only had to do with physically or sexually hurting a child. They were therefore turning 
a blind eye to the exploitation of children, exposure to hazardous conditions, and other actions that may pose 
potential harm to these children. They were also of the opinion that street-connected children are ‘bad’ 
children.  
 
Impact:  Through the sessions with project social workers, community members now understand that street-
connected children should be protected from the conditions they are living in on the dumpsites, and 
sometimes take up these issues with their parents. They are also now supportive of the children, instead of 
blaming them for their circumstances and actions. 
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Schools:  Children living and working on dumpsites or the streets often face stigma and abuse in schools, 
leading them to drop out and develop further mistrust of authorities.  To address this, the project works with 
schools to change perceptions, and this includes the introduction of kids’ clubs.  An additional twelve kid’s 
clubs have been established in eight primary and four secondary schools. They meet regularly and members 
encourage their peers to join, helping them to stay safe and away from the dumpsites. 

 

Government:  The project has been working closely with Ministry officials to not only implement the 

Government’s case management requirements, as laid out in the National Framework for Child Protection, but 

also influence learning and joint working between Ministry and NGO social workers to meet the needs of 

marginalised children. The Child Labour Unit of the Ministry of Labour and Social Security has been visiting the 

dumpsites, becoming champions for proper policies to protect children from hazardous work conditions and 

for the implementation of existing legislation. Masada, the government’s garbage management company 

continues to promote the work of the project and encourages children to stay away from the dumpsite, 

including talking to parents about the dangers of having children living and/or working there. 

 

International Community:  Two Comic Relief filming opportunities enabled the impact and need of the 

project’s work to be broadcast to international audiences. 

 

Ethiopia – Girls’ Education 
 

In Ethiopia, ChildHope and the Organisation for Child Transformation and Development (CHADET) have been 

partners for over ten years.  Since March 2013 CHADET and ChildHope have been delivering a major project as 

part of DFID’s Girls’ Education Challenge Fund Programme.  Phase one of GEC ended in March 2017 and we 

successfully applied for a second-round grant, to run from April 2017 to March 2021. This will enable over 

16,000 of Ethiopia’s most marginalised girls, those experiencing or at risk of early marriage, domestic labour, 

migration and street-involvement, to enrol, stay, thrive and succeed in education.  

 

 

 

Girls and Boys:  16,523 girls directly benefited from the 

project, all of them receiving essential scholastic materials 

that enabled them to enrol and stay in school. Before the 

project, lack of these essential materials was identified as a 

major reason for girls failing to enrol and stay in school.  

6,240 girls and 3,420 boys are members of girls’ clubs and 

good brothers’ clubs, raising awareness of the importance of 

girls’ education.  Girls accessed life skills training, 

psychosocial support and tutorial support to help them to 

learn and succeed in school. One of the biggest 

achievements of the programme has been the girls’ reported 

improvements in self-esteem and self-efficacy, vital to them 

persuading their parents to allow them to continue with 

their education rather than leave and marry or migrate. 

 

 

 



ChildHope (UK) 
Trustees’ annual report 
For the year ended 31 December 2017 

15 

Learning: The girls’ academic performance steadily improved over the four years of the project, but girls’ 

learning was seriously affected by drought and civil unrest in the latter half of the project.  The girls we are 

working with are from very poor backgrounds, and the burden of domestic labour falls very heavily onto them 

in times of crisis.  For example, fetching water is considered to be a female task and drought means walking 

for longer distances for this scarce resource, affecting attendance.                                                                                               

 

Families:  423 family hub sessions were organised, enabling families in groups to discuss the challenges they 

face in helping their girls to access and stay in education.  Family hubs are small groups of neighbours who 

share similar challenges and can help one another to find solutions.  In addition, 1,602 of the poorest families 

in the project were given livelihoods support, to enable them to afford their children’s education costs. Support 

included training on how to save, seed funding and access to loans.  

 

Impact:  Our endline results showed that 81% of families receiving livelihoods support increased spending on 

their daughters’ education. 

 

Community:  1509 community members took part in community conversations, opportunities for community 

members to discuss education challenges and for the project to persuade family members, particularly the 

men, of the value of educating girls.  

Community members are also an integral part 

of the family hub sessions. 

 

Schools:  48 primary schools participated in our 

GEC1 project.  The range of inputs included 

teacher training, which significantly improved 

pedagogical approaches in the classroom; 

building of latrines (lack of latrines is often a 

reason for girls not to go to school); and 

disability awareness training to enable better 

understanding of the needs of the 534 disabled 

girls in the project.  

 

Government:  Girls’ Education Committees (GECC) are local level committees made up of key government 

representatives with a remit to support and protect girls, particularly in areas of protection and safeguarding.  

The project has worked closely to strengthen these (often dormant) committees to support girls in need and 

enable them to stay in school.  They meet to discuss girls’ education issues, track girls’ progress and respond 

to child protection reports.  They responded to 425 cases of harm in this reporting period.   

 

Learning:  While significant progress has been made in reinvigorating the committees and enabling officials to 

understand their responsibilities to children, there are still challenges in ensuring that cases are thoroughly 

followed up and responded to appropriately.  In GEC-T we will continue to work with government 

representatives to strengthen responses to safeguarding concerns 

 

International Community:  The Girls’ Education Challenge Fund is an international programme aiming to 

demonstrate the value of educating girls.  It uses its scale and scope to gain a platform to speak about the 

achievements of the programme and persuade others in the international community of the value of investing 

in girls.  ChildHope presented our GEC1 results at the international education conference, UKFIET, in 2017. 
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Uganda – Commercially Sexually Exploited Girls 
 

In Uganda, a grant from the Big Lottery Fund enabled ChildHope and the Uganda Reproductive Health Bureau 

(URHB) to work with commercially sexually exploited girls on Uganda’s main transport route in the East of the 

country.  The project has just completed its fourth and final year. 

 

Girls: A neglected group, the girls themselves contributed many strong ideas about how sexual exploitation 

could be tackled and how they could move away from a reliance on commercial sex to make ends meet. By 

the end of the project 175 girls accessed vocational training and 31 re-entered formal education. 

 

Learning:  The project worked with the girls throughout, listening to their concerns if aspects of our approach 

didn’t work and adapting the project. For example, we switched from business loans to start-up kits in response 

to the girls’ anxiety about successfully repaying loans. All of the girls successfully completed their training or 

remain in school and all report that they are no longer at risk of returning to commercial sexual exploitation. 

 

Family:  It is extremely difficult for commercially sexually exploited girls to return to their families and 

communities because of the stigma of their situation. In many cases they have built new lives, in towns, away 

from their villages. The project mediated with the girls and their families to rebuild relationships, even if the 

girls didn’t return to live there.  The 31 girls in formal education have been reunited with their families. 

 

Community:  The community surrounding 

commercially sexually exploited girls – truck 

drivers, bar owners, clients and adult sex 

workers - is one which presents many dangers 

but can also offer support and protection, 

playing a role in reducing abuse and 

exploitation. The project therefore focused 

much direct work within these challenging 

groups, aiming to raise awareness of child 

protection issues and change attitudes and 

behaviours towards minors, reaching 1321 

adult female sex workers and their clients and 

1262 truck drivers. Throughout the project, URHB has noticed improved attitudes and behaviours towards the 

girls by truck drivers, with many saying they will no longer seek sex from underage girls.  

 

Schools, vocational training colleges and health facilities:  When we were developing the project, the girls 

told us about the challenges they had when trying to access services and support.  If staff members at facilities 

knew they were involved in sex work they could be rude and abusive towards them. The project therefore 

focused on changing attitudes and behaviours of service staff – particularly in schools, health facilities and 

NGOs – through training on child protection and rights and explaining the factors that led the girls to become 

involved in sex work.   

 

Government policy:  5 Truck drivers’ associations and a regional truck drivers’ association against exploitation 

of children have been formed in response to the project activities.  A set of 12 bye-laws aimed at eliminating 

Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children, through increased responsibility of both parents and children, was 

passed by the Busia Local Council and approved by the Minister of Local Government. The other 4 towns are 

learning from this and fast tracking similar bye-laws expected to be passed by their councils soon. 
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Kenya – Street-Connected Girls 
 

In Kenya, we are working with long-standing partner, Pendekezo Letu (PKL), who have developed a successful 

rehabilitation programme with street-connected girls, their families and communities. In 2015, we received a 

three-year grant from Comic Relief to further extend work with the communities the girls come from, and 

continue work with children and young people in conflict with the law, who are so often forgotten by the rest 

of society.  

 

Girls and boys:  99 girls were 

successfully reintegrated into their 

communities and enrolled in formal 

schools, having spent ten months in 

PKL’s centre; a further 100 girls were 

recruited for the coming year and 

settled into the programme, while 

166 of the girls’ siblings accessed 

formal education. 46 young women 

with babies and 22 young people 

released from the juvenile justice 

system were supported to take 

vocational training courses. The 

practical support given to these 

children and young people takes 

place within an environment that enables the children to understand and promote their rights and challenge 

the injustices they face as they grow up in the poorest and most violent settlements in Nairobi. 

 
Family:  Caregivers and parents are economically empowered through the asset-based community 
development approach, after which they join savings and internal lending community groups. This approach, 
which focuses on making the most of what assets a family has rather than look at what they don’t have, is 
proving to be very effective in this context.  Other caregivers take vocational skills training courses such as 
mechanics, tailoring, carpentry and cookery. In cases of extreme insecurity and poverty, families are relocated 
from urban slum settlements to their rural homes and supported with housing loans and household goods. 

 
Community:  PKL is a trusted and respected organisation working within a very difficult, often violent, 
community context.  Their years of hard work at community level means their programmes and campaigns are 
accepted and well attended by members of the community.  A community awareness campaign dubbed 
‘Pamoja Tulinde Watoto Wetu’ (together let us protect our children) was held in Korogocho slums reaching 
over 400 participants, including members of the local area advisory council, area chiefs, police officers and 
voluntary children officers.  PKL also ensures that celebration of international days for children e.g. 
International Days for Street Children and Day of the African Child reach the community to promote the 
importance of children’s rights and protection. 

 
Schools:  Another important component of PKL’s programme is development of strong relationships with 
schools, so that street-connected children are welcomed rather than stigmatised.  This includes a whole school 
community approach.  During 2017, 35 teachers and parent teacher association members were trained on 
child rights and protection to enhance positive discipline in schools and reduce child abuse by curbing corporal 
punishment. 63 child peer educators were trained on child rights and child protection to support the formation 
of child right clubs in schools. 
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Learning:  In 2017, radical changes in the Kenyan Education System, including curriculum changes, affected 
the strong community systems that had been developed in schools. New regulations mean that access to 
children for guidance and counselling, positive discipline committees and child rights clubs can only be carried 
out at weekends and not during official schools days. Consequently PKL needed to adapt their work with 
schools, limiting activities with teachers and children in the child rights clubs to Saturdays. 
 
Government:  PKL works with policy and decision makers at multiple levels.  40 local area advisory council 
members were trained on child rights and child protection during 2017.  PKL co-established the Nairobi Street 
Children and Youth Consortium, which aims to lobby the county and national government in legislation and 
service delivery. Through the consortium, various stakeholders including the Nairobi County and Street 
Families’ Rehabilitation Trust Fund identified 11 rehabilitation centres to be used by street children as safe 
havens in case of violence during the elections in August 2017.  

 

The Government of Kenya has launched the pro-bono lawyer scheme to offer free legal representation for 

children in contact and conflict with the law. PKL is supporting the judiciary in training of the pro-bono lawyers 

on child rights and protection especially on the best interests of the child. 

 

International Community; Filming by Comic Relief enabled millions of people to see the impact of the work of 

PKL. PKL and ChildHope have also maintained good relationships with the University of Brighton and ODI, to 

continue promoting the findings of a piece of research with the UN Girls Education Initiative.  ChildHope also 

hosted the PKL Director in 2017, giving her the opportunity to meet donors and supporters in the UK.  
 

Projects under development in Africa 
 

We are still looking for funding for 

an important piece of work in The 

Gambia, with partners Child 

Protection Agency (CPA) and 

Institute for Social Reform and 

Action (ISRA).  Funding from the 

Jersey Overseas Aid Commission 

(JOAC) in 2013/14 enabled us to 

pilot and research a piece of work 

with children living and studying in 

Majalis (traditional Islamic schools) 

and funding from the Ministry of 

Education in The Gambia is enabling 

the work to continue, but at a much 

slower rate than we had planned, 

and without the protection, rights, participation and livelihoods components of the project.   

 

In line with ChildHope’s five-year strategy to increase the number of partners we have in each country to at 

least three, we have been exploring opportunities to work more closely in Mombasa with Glad’s House, Kenya.  

During 2018 we will also scope the potential for a knowledge-sharing partnership, focusing on child protection 

and safeguarding, in Tanzania. 
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Asia 
 

While India and Bangladesh continue to enjoy economic growth, high numbers of children and women, in 

particular, continue to live in situations of extreme poverty, inequality and risk of violence and exploitation.  

ChildHope is working with partners in India and Bangladesh who support street-connected children, working 

children and mothers living in the poorest areas, at greatest risk of violence and exploitation. Over the past 

two years, ChildHope has developed new partnerships in Nepal, having identified a number of Asia-regional 

connections, the impact of migration and trafficking of children in particular. In all three countries, as well as 

addressing immediate needs, partners are strengthening the economic capacity and voices of project 

participants and challenging governments to commit spending and to develop and implement policies that 

address the issues facing the most marginalised members of society. 

 

India – Street-Connected Children 
 

In India, Butterflies was the recipient of a Comic Relief Investment Grant, completing the sixth and final year 

of the grant in 2017.  The grant has enabled ChildHope and Butterflies to work together to strengthen core 

structures, including finance, fundraising, child protection, disability inclusion and monitoring and evaluation, 

as well as allowing Butterflies to deepen understanding and strengthen their response in some extremely 

challenging areas.  Their work with young people in the juvenile justice system is one example of this.  The 

grant also enabled Butterflies to further establish their innovative savings and life-skills programme, CDK and 

CHC, as an international programme operating in eight countries world-wide. 

 

Girls and Boys:  This significant 

grant has enabled Butterflies to 

reach many children facing 

different forms of 

marginalisation, and in 2017 

19,224 children used 

Butterflies’ services.  These 

include street and working 

children accessing formal and 

non-formal education, children 

learning how to save and plan 

for the future, children 

supporting their peers and 

communities with basic health 

education and children participating in media initiatives, campaigns and decision-making that affects their 

future 

 

Family:  Children experiencing the most extreme situations of abuse, neglect or exploitation, but whose 

families wanted to turn things around, received specialist support, through case work with families or family 

therapeutic care. 70 families received this intensive support.  308 children were reunified with their families.  

Butterflies also worked with parents through Child Social Protection Committees, to build safer community 

environments for all children to live in, with adults understanding and taking on responsibility to protect the 

children in the community.  Butterflies has also developed successful methodologies for including parents from 

the poorest backgrounds in school management committees. 
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Community:  Butterflies has involved local communities, in particular, in developing strategies to  

• tackle violence within the community (Child Social Protection Committees)  

• challenge the circumstances that lead children into crime and can perpetuate stigma against children who 

have been involved with the juvenile justice system 

• encourage the education and participation of girls in the programme 

 

Learning:  Increasing girls’ involvement has been a priority throughout the programme. In Year One girls 

formed a very small proportion of the children reached, and this was 48% by the end of year 6. This would not 

have happened without close engagement with parents and community members, who created safe spaces 

and encouragement for girls to get involved. 

 

Schools:  Butterflies has been highly successful in getting street-connected children learning again, through 

mobile education, enrolment in mainstream schools, staying in school and passing exams.  A great part of this 

success has been work with the 

schools to reduce stigma facing 

poorer students and involving 

children and parents in the School 

Management Committees.  The 

parents and children now feel they 

are a part of the school system, with 

a right to be there and make 

decisions about things that affect 

them, and they are welcomed by 

other pupils and the school staff. 

 

Government:  Butterflies was 

invited by the government to be 

part of a committee to improve the 

quality and services in observation homes, where children involved with the law are often sent. Suggestions 

for improvement were documented by Butterflies, informed by several years of working with the homes and 

the children within them and upon their release, and shared with the committee.   

 

Recognising the experience and expertise in the area of street-connected children, a study was commissioned 

to Butterflies by the state government of Gujarat to understand the number of street-connected children in 

selected six cities in the state and their different life situations and problems. The study is expected to come 

up with strategies and plans to address the issues. 

 

International Community:  Butterflies gained exciting media coverage of CDK and CHC programmes in 2017. 

Carrot Film Productions House in Delhi came to know about CDK and pitched an idea to produce a documentary 

based on the CDK story, to screen in a documentary festival in Japan. The story won the award and the trailer 

is available on YouTube [https://youtu.be/hFAEQud89DE].  The completed 30-minute documentary will be 

screened soon in Japan. 

 

 
 
 
 

https://youtu.be/hFAEQud89DE


ChildHope (UK) 
Trustees’ annual report 
For the year ended 31 December 2017 

21 

Bangladesh – Children Living and Working on Matuail Dumpsite 
 

Our work in Bangladesh with Grambangla Unnyan Committee (Grambangla), supports extremely 
marginalised children and parents, forced by poverty to migrate and work in hazardous conditions on the 
Matuail dumpsite in Dhaka, 
where daily life forces even very 
young children to face the danger 
of toxic fumes, sharp and 
contaminated waste (bones, 
glass, needles) and heavy 
machinery.  Grambangla’s day 
care and education programme 
offers an alternative to mothers 
and children; instead of being 
locked indoors, left on the streets, 
or taken to the dumpsite with 
their mothers, the children are 
now educated and cared for in a 
safe, nurturing environment.  
When they are old enough they 
are supported to access local 
mainstream schools.  Having grown the work together with Grambangla since 2011, in 2015 we were awarded 
a significant grant from BLF to further develop this work and bring in partner Nari Maitree to support with 
vocational training for adolescents. 
 
Girls and Boys:  204 students continued inclusive primary education provided by GramBangla, achieving 82% 
attendance. 94 children were enrolled in 18 mainstream schools. 42 adolescents completed vocational training 
in tailoring, paper bag making, food processing and mobile phone servicing. The average monthly income of 
the graduate trainees has exceeded the project target by 25%.  
  
Learning:  Ensuring 80% plus attendance at school was a big challenge because of lack of awareness among 
the parents and children, poverty and poor infrastructure. To encourage attendance, the project improved 
school infrastructure and trained teachers to provide inclusive, quality education. Every week, teachers visit 
households to maintain a regular relationship with the parents and make them aware of their children’s 
progress. Each teacher has been given the responsibility of supporting 30 children. In addition, community 
awareness meetings on the importance of education has helped in monitoring the dropouts. 
 

Family:  A Parents Welfare Group has been set up to regularly monitor children's progress.  Mothers have been 

encouraged to join community self-help savings groups.  The seven groups have started saving and are planning 

to start inter-group loans soon.  Members have had training on nutrition, functional literacy, hygiene and book-

keeping, and 21 members with leadership roles have also received training on leadership, team building and 

entrepreneurship. 

 
Learning:  Initially, it was very difficult for the waste-picker women to manage time for regular meetings or 
start saving. To address this, seven community volunteers were trained on Self-Help Saving Groups, and each 
volunteer given the responsibility of coordinating meetings for one SHSG. They organised meetings at times 
convenient to the waste-pickers, such as late evening or at night when they are free from waste-picking and 
household activities. The groups are now running effectively. 

 
Community:  Maintaining strong relationship with community members, recycling shop owners, local Imam 
(religious leaders), local government officials and other stakeholders has been an effective way to reach more 
children and young people. Involvement of Community Volunteer Facilitators, members of SHSGs and Parents’ 
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Welfare Groups built a sense of ownership among the community which encouraged them to play an active 
role in different advocacy movements. Local influencers are now contributing to the wellbeing of waste pickers 
through donations. Organising meetings in the community and social gatherings like Annual Sports Day were 
very fruitful initiatives to motivate both the community and other stakeholders. 

 

Schools: Representatives of local 

government and NGO officials 

were invited to the project office. 

During the visits, a short 

presentation and video 

documentary were shown and the 

project brochures were distributed 

to make them aware of the waste 

pickers’ situation and project’s 

objectives.  Maintaining this good 

and well-informed relationship 

with the Government Education 

Department and different schools 

has helped us to enrol 94 students 

in 18 mainstream schools. 

 

Government: A “Network of Waste Pickers in Bangladesh”, made up of 41 NGO representatives, was 

established in December 2016. Two advocacy briefing notes on the education and health of waste-pickers were 

widely shared through a media advocacy campaign. As a result 14 national newspapers published reports on 

the issues faced by waste pickers and their children, and three students of Grambangla School spoke to the 

minister for finance and four government secretaries about allocating part of the budget for waste-picking 

children. They also met the Honourable President of Bangladesh to talk about child labour elimination.  

 

International Community: A reputed Dutch-Bangla packaging factory approached ChildHope and project team 
to extend their support, after learning about the issues of waste-picker children in newspaper articles as a 
result of media advocacy. After visiting the project training centre and reviewing the modules, they have 
promised to provide job placement assistance to all graduate trainees in their Dhaka factories.   
 

Bangladesh – Children of Garment Industry Workers 
 

A grant from TRAID is enabling partner Nagorik Uddyog, to develop educational and child rights programmes 

with the children of garment industry workers in Dhaka.  Many parents are lone mothers who have come to 

Dhaka with their children to seek work. Without networks of friends or relatives, mothers have stark choices 

to make about their children when they go out to work – leave them alone unattended outside or cared for by 

very young siblings, or lock them in a room for many hours.  Some of these children are as young as two years 

old.   

 

Nagorik is providing day care and early years’ education for the younger children, and drop-in opportunities to 

enable older children to get a taste for education, study support and a route back into mainstream school or 

an appetite for further training.  Staffed by dedicated people from the local area, Nagorik has created a safe, 

colourful and nurturing environment for the children and young people to thrive.  
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Girls and Boys:  86 children received 

early childhood development and pre-

school education in two centres in 

Dhaka’s urban slums, receiving inclusive 

play and education, health check-ups, 

nutritious food, games, music and dance.  

Children enrolled are those most at risk 

of violence and abuse, with no 

alternative daytime care opportunities.  

122 older children, aged 6-16, attend 

regular classes at two drop-in centres, 

receiving non-formal life skills education 

and preparation for reintegration into 

school if appropriate. The children have 

also accessed animation training, tailoring, and training in computer operations. 

 

Family:  24 children from the drop-in centres are part of two peer groups, meeting on a regular basis to share 

knowledge and learning around child rights and other life skills.  They spread awareness amongst their family 

members, friends and wider community about child rights and the importance of education. 

 

Learning: Over the last few years, the project team has built an excellent relationship and trust in the 

community, especially with family members. Services provided are better than many private commercial 

centres but, due to the parents’ poverty levels, no contributions were charged. However, it has been noted in 

the last year, parents are providing in-kind help in the form of fruit, vegetables, meat or grain to support the 

day-care kitchen. The team is planning to consult parents and may charge a nominal fee per head towards the 

running cost of the day-care, to promote longer-term sustainability. 

 

Community:  Nagorik continues to leverage resources from their other ongoing projects with a similar human 

rights focus to enable community awareness meetings on labour rights, human rights, child marriage, dowry 

and related issues. Twelve peer group discussions and awareness meetings with children on child marriage, 

child rights, trafficking, drugs and importance of education took place during 2017. 

 

Schools:  Every alternate month, parents’ teachers’ meetings are conducted to discuss children’s progress, 

school enrolment, child rights and the rights of garment factory workers, to create a more conducive and 

understanding school environment for the children. 

 

Government:  Regular meetings and lobbying with government officials has helped Nagorik staff to access 41 

birth certificates for children in the drop-in and day care centres.  Birth certificates are one of the most essential 

documents in Bangladesh, and many countries we work in, a gateway to access government schemes and 

entitlements, including access to government schools.   

 

International Community:  The project has been using artistic ways to get their messages across and five girls 

from the project have been selected for writing and directing their own stories by UK film makers Rainbow 

Collective and Lenslation. The Documentary was screened at Bengal Art Gallery in Bangladesh and is available 

on youtube: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ldp2-a1DG2c&app=desktop .   

 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ldp2-a1DG2c&app=desktop
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A big challenge for both our Bangladesh projects has been the post-Brexit exchange-rate losses. The project 

has seen a loss of approx. 20% in local currency (Taka) due to this. The teams made adjustments to carefully 

manage the budget and minimise the negative impact of the loss. 

 

Projects under development in Asia 
 

Following the closure of the International Childcare Trust in May 2015, ChildHope took on a new project 

partner, Voice of Children in Nepal.  We supported VoC during 2017 to make a successful application for 

funding from the Consortium for Street Children, to pilot innovative approaches to working with street-

connected children. While we search for funding to deliver a larger piece of work with VoC they are supporting 

our work in Asia as a knowledge partner, contributing child protection thinking and expertise, including as part 

of our new project with Shakti Samuha, below.  

 

In line with our strategic aim to increase the number of partnerships in Nepal, we developed a new partnership 

with Shakti Samuha, an organisation led by survivors of trafficking, and were successful in applying for a grant 

for a three-year project from DFID/UKAID.  This project will start in early 2018. 
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South America 

 

As with Asia, many countries in South America have experienced significant growth in recent years. However, 

many children, particularly those in rural communities, indigenous people and people of African heritage 

experience lives characterised by violence, poverty and inequality.  Our work in Peru tackles child labour, sexual 

exploitation, violence and gender inequalities, challenging governments to address growing inequality, 

particularly faced by indigenous children.   

 

Peru – children from indigenous communities 
 

In Peru, ChildHope has been delivering a BLF-funded project with partner Amhauta since 2014. The project 

aims to improve education and address the severe inequalities experienced by indigenous children and their 

families in remote rural schools in the region of Cusco. It is working to improve inter-cultural teaching 

approaches in order to raise the academic achievement of Quechuan children, while working with parents to 

promote positive approaches to education and offer alternative livelihoods options that enable parents to pay 

the costs associated with sending their children to school.  The project is also promoting grass roots advocacy 

by community leaders with local decision makers and policy makers, aiming to ensure that the education 

provision in Peru is fairer for all.  

 

Girls and Boys:  180 children (94 boys 

and 86 girls) are actively engaged in the 

project, although many of the 

interventions will benefit all children, 

particularly indigenous children, in the 

fourteen target schools.  The project 

aims to foster a safer, more caring 

learning environment where teachers 

and other important local authority 

figures better understand the needs 

and background of different learners.  

It also challenges poverty and violence 

in the home, helping parents to 

increase family income invest in their 

children’s education.  

 

Family:  Microcredit groups have been incredibly successful in empowering women - financially & socially - 

and in improving children's education, with all of the 80 parents involved in the scheme significantly increasing 

the amount of money invested in their children’s education. Women report fewer intra-marital disputes due 

to increased financial independence.  They are diversifying their businesses and seeking new opportunities 

further afield in Cusco. The final year of the project will build on this with business skills workshops, and 

advocate for gender equality within communal laws, as women currently are denied equal opportunities to 

men. 

 

Community:  Education promoters (made up of community leaders) have developed their confidence and skills 

to advocate for the education of the children in their communities, resulting in education being a permanent 

topic for discussion in all 14 community assembly agendas. Promoters also support home visits and have set 
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up a checklist for the families in their community, monitoring any risk to the child/family and how much time 

and money parents invest in their children. 

 

Learning:  Due to the high levels of illiteracy amongst the community, materials produced (such as 

questionnaires, informative leaflets) need to be pictorial and inclusive and some of the project’s workshops 

and activities needed to be reformulated, using different strategies to engage community members. Amhauta 

have started use existing traditional/community gatherings as a means to reach more community members 

and engage them in their own space. Participating in Formato Huatia (traditional open-air cooking of potatoes 

as a group) is an example of this. 

 

Schools:  The project is working with 92 teachers across fourteen schools to improve their application of 

intercultural education strategies so that the schools are more welcoming environments for all children, 

achieved through workshops, classroom mentoring, cultural visits, work planning and awareness raising.  

Initiatives also include parents, school and local authority (law, health, social services) officials and educational 

specialists.  One large cultural event also engaged 539 children, who produced text and pictures for publication, 

which have been compiled into a booklet by the project 

 

Government:  The project works in fourteen communities and formal agreements have been signed with 

Community Assemblies, schools and the Local and Regional Education Authorities, in order to formally 

establish the project at every level.   

 

Learning:  Working with local Government bureaucracy in Peru means that, whilst many meetings and 

workshops have taken place with participation of local and national government, it has been difficult to reach 

a common consensus and many are hesitant to sign any commitment or formal agreement to significantly 

change practice. Four formal agreements have been achieved so far. With several large-scale forums and 

events planned over the final year, we are confident we will reach the total of 10 agreements by the end of 

the project, using the four already achieved as models of good practice. 

 

Peru – Working Children 
 
In 2015 ChildHope, with partner CESIP in Peru, were selected as Aberdeen Asset Management’s Emergent 
Markets Charity Partner, with a commitment of three years’ funding for a project starting in January 2016. 
ChildHope and CESIP are working with eight schools to address the issue of access to safe and quality education 
for children facing child labour, violence and exploitation, through targeted activities providing direct 
educational support to 
children, as well as beginning to 
engage those people and 
institutions in the children’s 
lives whose decisions can have 
a big impact on their futures: 
parents, teachers and the local 
government.  
 
Girls and Boys:  3987 boys and 
3800 girls are benefiting from 
the project in a range of ways: 
children with learning 
difficulties receive additional 
learning support; children at 
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risk are participating in social skills activities; all pupils are benefiting from improved, more inclusive teaching 
approaches and safer schools. Eight child rights clubs (DESNA) are fully operational across all schools and have 
an annual work plan.  All eight schools are implementing the child protection protocols and processes 
established as part of the project to prevent and protect their students against violence, sexual abuse and child 
labour: teaching staff have improved capacity to deal with and manage cases of violence and abuse, with a 
significant increase in referrals to local protection services demonstrating an increased awareness.  
 

Family:  Over 2017, seven schools developed child rights campaigns centred on preventing violence and 

bullying, good treatment and other themes. Workshops were undertaken with parents and teachers to 

reinforce the key messages of preventing violence, mistreatment and abuse and how everybody needs to play 

a part. This included training with teachers on the school’s role in identifying and preventing sexual abuse, and 

awareness-raising workshops with parents on preventing violence, good treatment and child labour. 

 
Community: The project aims to work with 32 community promoters, made up of interested parents and the 
wider community, who will promote children’s rights and education in the community. Unfortunately, due to 
the flooding caused by El Niño and a more recent teachers’ strike, the project reached only 31% of community 
promoters and activities were rescheduled multiple times: in the final year of the project there will be greater 
emphasis on engaging and involving the promoters, ensuring that the total number is reached.  
 
Schools:  Teachers are receiving support through training workshops and classroom support from an 
educational therapist: this is motivating the teaching staff, as they previously did not receive this kind of 
support, and they can see the input benefiting and reaching many more children and young people more 
widely across the schools.  

 

Government:  CESIP is working closely with all six local education authorities (UGEL) linked to the eight project 
schools, vital to the success and sustainability of the work.  Three UGEL have expressed an interest in 
replicating CESIP’s protection and psycho-pedagogic support activities across other schools within their 
district.  

 
International Community: An exciting opportunity arose through CESIP’s wider network, for 105 young leaders 
to participate in a youth conference with Kailash Satyarthi, the 2014 Nobel Peace Prize winner and Honorary 
President of the Global March against Child Labour who visited Peru to launch the Global Campaign “100 
million”. The young people were accompanied by parents and teachers from their schools.   
 
ChildHope supported CESIP to make a successful application to the Consortium for Street Children to test 
innovative approaches to working with street children.  The work will contribute to growing an international 
body of knowledge in this area. 
 
During 2017 the children enjoyed a visit from a group of volunteers from Aberdeen Standard Investment 
(previously Aberdeen Asset Management), who were able to see for themselves the contribution their grant 
has been making. 
 
Note:  During the development of our Strategic Framework 2016-2020, we made the decision to end funded 
partnerships in Brazil by early 2016 and in Peru by 2020, and so we are not identifying or developing any new 
partnerships or pieces of work in Peru.   
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Funding Review 
 

In 2017 our overall income was £2,768,839.  Our three main institutional donors remain UKAID/DFID, Comic 
Relief and Big Lottery Fund.  TRAID continued to support our work with Nagorik in Bangladesh and Aberdeen 
Standard Investment (previously Aberdeen Asset Management) continued to support our work in Peru.  We 
received approximately £60k less income than anticipated from our DFID Girls’ Education Challenge Fund 
programme following a Payment by Results assessment, and also incurred around £40k in exchange rate losses 
in the same programme. We are negotiating with the fund manager to implement an alternative approach to 
foreign exchange calculations for the follow-up (GEC-T) programme, and there is no longer a penalty element 
to the Payment by Results in that programme, thus mitigating future risk of reduced income due to PbR 
requirements. 

 

ChildHope is a member of the Fundraising Regulator and remains committed to high standards in our 
fundraising activities. We follow the Fundraising Regulator’s Code of Fundraising Practice and ensure all staff, 
fundraisers and volunteers comply with the key principles embodied in the Code.  
 
No third parties were used for fundraising purposes in 2017. As ChildHope does very little direct marketing – 
we do not have a telephone upgrade programme or face-to-face fundraising and we issue four to six mailings 
per year – we ensure that vulnerable people, and anybody else, are protected from unwanted or stressful 
intrusion on their privacy. All staff and volunteers also adhere to the Institute of Fundraising’s policy on 
vulnerable people.  Trustees are kept up to date with fundraising practice and actively participate in fundraising 
initiatives.  At least two Trustees are members of the Fundraising Sub-Committee, which aims to meet four 
times a year and feeds back to the main Board meetings each quarter. 
 

Sources of Income 2017 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
As the chart shows, institutional donors continue to form ChildHope’s main source of income and, within 
that, UKAid and Comic Relief remain our two most significant funders.  We also received three large grants 
from BLF during 2017.  We continue to work towards greater diversification of our institutional donor base 
and an increase in unrestricted funding from different sources.  We have recruited a Development Director 
to lead the fundraising team to take this work forward. 
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Sources of unrestricted income from fundraising in 2017 
 
In 2017, our unrestricted income was £185,175. Please see the below chart for a breakdown of sources of 
income generated by the fundraising team (total £165,340, the remainder being gifts in kind, bank interest 
and income generated through child protection consultancy). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Individual & regular giving (including legacies)  
 

Donations from individuals make a significant positive impact on the work we are able to do with children and 
young people. The breakdown of our individual and regular giving income is: regular giving (£34,500), one off 
donations (£16,312), and payroll giving (£38,674).  
 
We are pleased to see that regular and payroll giving has seen a small increase on the previous year. Increasing 
support from new and existing payroll givers was a priority for 2017 as this was an area that has been in a 
steady decline. Many of our regular giving supporters have been with us for many years, so we aim to maintain 
their ongoing support for ChildHope through sensitive and careful stewardship.  
 

Trusts & Foundations 
 

Unrestricted income from Trusts and Foundations totalled £29,846. The following Trusts and Foundations 
generously supported ChildHope in 2017: 
 

The Bungalow Centre Charitable Foundation 
The Gould Charitable Trust 
The Janelaw Trust 
The Westcroft Trust 
The Cheruby Trust  
The Brian Mitchell Charitable Settlement 
The Baker Charitable Trust 
Harapan 
ShareGift 
The Rogers Stirk Harbour + Partners Charitable Foundation 

Harford Charitable Trust 
The Wallace Curzon Charitable Trust 
The Jeannine Vassiliou Charitable Trust 
The Ione Vassiliou Charitable Trust 
The Carmela and Ronnie Pignatelli Foundation 
The Paget Charitable Trust 
The Ardwick Trust 
The Forest Hill Charitable Trust 
The Charity of Stella Symons 
The Serve All Trust 
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Miss K M Harbinson’s Charitable Trust 
The Fulmer Charitable Trust 
The Michael and Anna Wix Charitable Trust 
Nichol-Young Foundation 
The Nicka Vassiliou Charitable Trust 

The Rest-Harrow Trust 
Sydney Black Charitable Trust 
The Molitor Charitable Trust 
 
 

 

We also received generous donations from Trusts and Foundations restricted towards specific projects. We 
would like to thank the following Trusts and Foundations for their support in 2017: 
 

The Rhododendron Trust 
Navchetna BV Charitable Trust 
Gilchrist Educational Trust 
The Waterloo Foundation 
Sterry Family Foundation 
 

Corporate Support  
 

Unrestricted corporate donations amounted to £13,979 in 2017.  We were delighted to receive a very generous 
donation of £12,000 from long-term supporters Capital Group towards our general operating costs in June. A 
huge thank you to Sapphire Systems for choosing ChildHope to be their Charity of the Year and for allowing us 
to use their beautiful board room for a supporter event. They raised £2,604.90 through their fundraising 
efforts, which they hope to double by the end of 2018 through a range of exciting events.  Thanks also to travel 
company Insider Places for donating £15 from every booking towards our work.  
 
Aberdeen Standard Investment continues to support our work in Peru with a restricted grant to CESIP which 
will continue to the end of 2018. A number of Aberdeen Standard employees visited the project in September, 
volunteering their time which they wrote a short blog about.   
 

Events & Community Fundraising 
 

In 2017, individuals and HKS architects raised £271.79 for our Summer 10k Race in Regent’s Park. Hundreds of 
runners took part and we would like to thank Nice Work for continuing to support ChildHope, running the 
logistics and providing promotional support and to all the volunteers who helped support on the day.  
 
A number of generous ChildHope supporters also kindly held events and took on challenges to raise money for 
ChildHope. This included Charles Medhurst, who held a coffee morning raising £720.52, North Bridge House 
Pre-Preparatory pupils who raised £1,097 and St Catherine’s Church, Litlington who kindly donated £345.  We 
were delighted to have the continuing support from music event company, Sound:Check who sang beautifully 
at our Christmas collection at London Bridge Station raising an amazing £1,584.17.  
 

Principal risks and uncertainties 
 

ChildHope has a detailed risk register, which is reviewed every three months by the Senior Management Team, 
every six months by the Audit and Resources Committee and every twelve months by the Board, and whenever 
significant new risks are identified.  The most significant risks, both financial and reputational, to ChildHope, 
concern financial irregularity (fraud and mismanagement) or child protection abuses, by partners or ChildHope 
itself, as well as any major, sudden changes in donor grant arrangements, particularly regarding DFID/UKAid 
and/or Comic Relief.   
 
In April 2017 we signed an agreement with DFID to implement a second Girls’ Education Challenge Fund 
programme (GEC-T).  This is our largest programme and is paid quarterly in arrears, with a mobilisation 
payment (in effect a ‘soft loan’) in place to support cash flow for the first three years of the four-year grant.  In 
the final year (2021), the mobilisation payment and all reports will need to be finalised before a final payment 

http://www.aberdeen-asset.co/static_files/documents/7ff43cac-f8d0-43a3-ba4c-7b02f7ed894a/1/53659-cd-peru-2017-blog.pdf


ChildHope (UK) 
Trustees’ annual report 
For the year ended 31 December 2017 

31 

will be made, thus posing potential cash flow challenges then.  We are agreeing ways to manage this cash flow 
risk with the fund manager. It is connected to analysis of our reserves policy and and it is included in our risk 
register for regular review with Trustees. 
 
Over the past two years, the national and international political environment has had an impact on charities, 
and will continue to do so in coming years. Exchange rate losses following the Brexit vote had an immediate 
impact on ChildHope’s work during 2017 and we will continue to monitor this closely. 
 
In order to maintain a close watching brief on risk in partner organisations, ChildHope has developed a tool to 
systematically assess risk more closely at the appropriate level (our ‘Heat Map’).  Taking six key areas (including 
Governance, Finance and Child Protection) and using a traffic light system, the Partnerships and Programmes 
Managers flag concerns and highlight good practice on a quarterly basis in team meetings.  Significant concerns 
are raised with and discussed with the Senior Management Team and at either the Audit and Resources 
Committee or Partnerships and Programmes sub-Committee (depending on the issue raised) and ‘red flags’ 
are discussed in full Board meetings. 
 
This system was developed partly in response to ‘whistleblowing’ events and analysis of whether it were 
possible to anticipate and address issues that may lead to allegations (founded or unfounded) before they lead 
to serious harm for the partner organisation or ChildHope.  Having been in operation for over two years now, 
there is agreement among Trustees and staff that the tool is enabling rich discussions and pertinent advice to 
be shared and, while it may not put a stop to the need for whistleblowing, it will reduce ‘shocks’ and is enabling 
preventive measures to be taken. 

 
Reserves policy and going concern 
 

The Trustees’ reserves policy ensures that ChildHope, at a minimum, maintains sufficient general fund reserves 

to be able to continue in “normal” existence for three months followed by an “orderly” curtailment of activities 

over the following three months if necessary. The policy is reviewed annually. The Trustees aim to hold, 

therefore, between four and six months expenditure as unrestricted funds to reflect this.  The level of reserves 

required in the general fund is reviewed with the budget every six months. As at 31 December 2017 the desired 

reserve level within the general fund was £202,000 assuming a run down over a six-month period. 

 

The trustees also consider that, where possible, it would be prudent for the charity to hold a further £200k in 

addition to this desired minimum, in order to allow for the flexibility to invest in new areas of work identified 

during strategic review periods, and the responsiveness to address unforeseen emergency situations. 

 

At the year end, the level of unrestricted reserves was £336,223. This is well above the minimum and the 

trustees are satisfied that this is within the reserves policy, and will provide us with sufficient resources to 

consider opportunities that may not provide full payment in advance, e.g. grants with a percentage ‘payment 

by results’ requirement or contract-style funding.  The Trustees do not consider it necessary to designate any 

ChildHope funds for this, and achieving this balance will not take precedence over identified ongoing 

investment priorities or operational delivery. 

 

Plans for the future 
 

ChildHope has set a series of strategic priorities for 2016 – 2020, developed as a result of consultation, learning 
from project reports, independent external evaluations, annual partner surveys and ongoing monitoring of 
progress. 
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Priorities for the five years to 2020 include 
 

• Where we work:  Reducing the number of countries of operation to nine and increasing the number of 
partners in each country 

• Protection:  development of case management systems, improving quality of practice and 

disseminating learning through training and other methods 

• Participation:  increasing budget allocations to enable children to participate in all our programmes 

and increase capacity of partners to include children in decision-making 

• Promoting learning:  improving the quality of learning experiences of children and economic 

empowerment of families so that more is spent on children’s education 

• Disability mainstreaming: building awareness across all of our work and making plans to increase the 

inclusion of disabled children 

• Learning and influencing: improving our monitoring, evaluation and learning systems and developing 

research partnerships so that the learning from our programmes can be widely shared 

• Funding: increasing our unrestricted funding base and reducing risk of dependency on our three major 

institutional funders, so that we have more flexibility around where and how to target our work to 

greatest effect 

 

We have clear, measurable targets against each of our priorities (our full strategy is available on our website 

www.childhope.org.uk) and an implementation plan for the five-year strategic period, which is reviewed 

annually. Progress is reflected throughout this report. 

 

Long-term Strategic Planning 

 
During 2017 a group of Trustees and team members worked together to analyse the changes and challenges 

in the international development sector and agree how ChildHope needs to adapt to this changing 

environment.  In particular, the shifting priorities and approaches of our main institutional donors (Comic 

Relief, Big Lottery Fund, DFID and Jersey Overseas Aid) have made securing and managing grants increasingly 

complicated for an organisation of ChildHope’s size and focus.  Following internal discussion, we decided to 

invest in improved communications, increased work with corporate partners and the development of our child 

protection training expertise into a consultancy to generate income.  We recruited a Development Director, a 

new role for ChildHope, to work with the team to implement these changes from January 2018. 

 

Structure, governance and management 

 

The organisation is a charitable company limited by guarantee, incorporated on 3rd February 1989 (as 
EliteRealm) amended to ChildHope UK (29th June 1989) and registered as a charity on 20th December 1989. 
 
The company was established under a memorandum of association, which established the objects and powers 
of the charitable company and is governed under its articles of association. 
 
All trustees give their time voluntarily and receive no benefits from the charity. £804.19 in expenses were 
claimed by Trustees to attend Board meetings, sub-committees and our partner learning workshop during 
2017.   
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Appointment, induction and training of trustees 
 

ChildHope operates under the guidance of a Board of Trustees. Matters of strategy, policy, programme and 

budgetary planning and monitoring reports are presented for deliberation and either approval or modification 

by the Board of Trustees on a regular basis. The respective roles of Trustees and the staff are outlined in 

ChildHope’s governance documents including the “Ensuring good governance in the work of ChildHope” and 

a range of policies defining powers, roles and conduct (copies of these are available from our office on request). 

We provide training to the Board in the areas of Child Protection (annually), and support to learn more in the 

areas of budgeting/finance, governance and programmes/strategy during Board meetings and the annual 

Away Day.   
 

Selection of Chair 
 
When the position of Chair becomes vacant, existing Trustees may express an interest in the role and, if they 
do, the Board may decide to make an appointment from within the existing Board membership. If no-one 
comes forward from within the Board, other individuals may be identified, recommended and headhunted or 
the post is advertised externally. A job description is drawn up to supplement the Trustee Code of Conduct. 
Interested parties meet the Executive Director (ED) who explains the work of ChildHope and the duties and 
responsibilities of the Chair. A panel, chaired by the head of a Trustee selection committee, then interviews 
candidates, with the ED sitting as an observer.  

 
Ensuring a good balance of Board membership 
 
Vacancies are advertised when gaps have been identified. In addition, nominations may be made by staff, 
other Trustees (including the Chair), other NGOs, or may be self-referring. The would-be Trustee receives an 
information pack and submits an application. If they meet the criteria for new Trustees, they visit ChildHope 
and meet the ED and the Chair of Trustees, or other Trustees and team members as appropriate. If confirmed 
as suitable, then the Chair or one Trustee proposes the applicant for election at a meeting of the Board of 
Trustees, giving fourteen days’ notice to all Trustees. If elected, the person is entered as a member of the 
Company on the Register.  
 
Charlie Middleton continued in the role of Chair of Trustees throughout 2017. 
 
The ED and Chair ensure that each new Trustee is trained in child protection and given an induction into the 
various activities of the charity. Appropriate training in governance, child protection and finance is offered to 
Trustees regularly. They review their performance annually. 
 

The Trustees, who constitute directors of the charity for Companies Act purposes, at April 2018, are: Laverne 

Antrobus, Karen Kroger, Charlie Middleton, David Harding, Kay Twine and Lizzie Towl. 

 
There are three sub-committees - the Audit and Resources Committee (which has decision-making powers), 
the Partnerships and Programmes sub-Committee and the Fundraising sub-Committee. Each Trustee is 
encouraged to become a member of one sub-Committee.   
 

Nicholas Toko also participated in the disability workshop in Bangkok and other trustees participated in our 

annual Staff Learning Week in August, Trustee recruitment, a long-term strategy planning group. 
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Attendance of Trustees at formal meetings during 2017 was as follows: 

 

Trustee Board meetings  
(including away day) 

Sub-Committee meetings 

Graham Bennett 4 3 

David Harding 3 4 

Charlie Middleton 5 5 

Philippa Hurst (Storey)   0 (Maternity Leave) 0 (Maternity Leave) 

Gretchen Shoring 2 1 

Harriet Garland 0 (Maternity Leave) 0 (Maternity Leave) 

Nicholas Toko 4 2 

Laverne Antrobus  4 3 

Karen Kroger  5 5 

Kay Twine 1 1 

 

Management of ChildHope 
 

A team of twelve (full time and part time) manage ChildHope’s resources, office and partnerships, including 

the Executive Director.  The Executive Director (ED) is Company Secretary and Secretary to the Trustees.   

 

The Trustees oversee the pay policy, setting the salary of the ED and agreeing on the annual staff pay increase. 

This is informed by regular benchmarking and evaluation (with external HR input to enhance objectivity).  Job 

Descriptions are reviewed annually with staff as part of the appraisal process and we set salaries to reflect the 

knowledge, experience, skills, responsibilities expected of staff in their roles. 

 

We try and maintain a balance between offering remuneration that reflects the market and demands of the 

job with expectations of our supporters and donors, who seek value for money and expect a high percentage 

of our income reaching the children and young people we support.  We know that the staff we recruit are 

attracted to work for us because of the quality of the work we do and integrity as an organisation.  We also 

aim to offer a supportive work environment, which is flexible and responsive to the needs of our diverse team. 

No employees receive a salary exceeding £60,000. The Senior Management Team is currently made up of four 

people – the ED plus representatives of Finance and Programmes teams, Fundraising Team and the HR & Office 

Manager, a combination of part time and full-time posts. We did not have a senior fundraiser during 2017 but 

recruited a Development Director, to head that function, to start in January 2018. The combined salaries of 

the SMT in 2017 was £124,077 (2016: £166,419).  

 

The identity and experience of our staff is diverse: 77% female and 23% male; 54% Black or Asian and 46% 

White.  In 2017 staff and volunteers had origins in Britain, India, Italy, Turkey, Jamaica, Peru, Uganda and 

Eritrea. Between us we speak Amharic, Bengali, English, Turkish, Hindi, Luganda, Sierra Leonean Krio, Spanish 

and Swahili. 

 

In 2017 assistance was received from one volunteer and one paid internship, bringing highly valued skills and 

commitment to the team and contributing to both our fundraising and programmes teams. In 2017 a total 

number of 510 hours were worked by volunteers and interns.  As well as gaining a lot from their input, 

ChildHope aims to give our volunteers and interns opportunities that will enhance their skills and expertise, 
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contributing to their future plans and careers, and many go on to gain paid employment within the 

international development sector having worked with ChildHope as a volunteer or intern.    

 
Transparency 
 

ChildHope aims to be as transparent as possible in the work we do.  Feedback from the Bond and Nidos 
transparency review, which we have participated in twice, was used to inform our website and 
communications.  During 2017 we undertook a communications audit and are implementing 
recommendations.  We also continue to report to IATI.  We are currently reviewing data protection and related 
policy as part of the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) coming into force at the end of May 2017. 

 
Related parties and relationships with other organisations 

 

ChildHope delivers work in partnership with Southern based and led organisations.  Partnerships are 

developed, in most cases, over a number of years during which necessary due diligence, partnership 

development and organisational development plans are drawn up and carried out.  ChildHope has developed 

a tool, the ‘Partnership Development Journey’, which allows ChildHope and partners to assess progress 

together and identify and address gaps.  All funded arrangements between ChildHope and partners are 

accompanied by a detailed partnership agreement, aligned to the requirements of the relevant donor(s).  All 

partners have independent Boards and other governance and management structures and are not subsidiaries 

of ChildHope.  

 

Inclusion and Disability 
 

Childhope takes all reasonable steps to ensure full and fair considerations to employ, train and promote 

employees on the basis of their experience, abilities and qualifications without regard to the ‘protected 

characteristics’ age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 

race (including colour, nationality and ethnic or national origins), religion or belief, sex or sexual orientation.  

It is ChildHope’s policy to recruit the best person for the job.  With disabled job applicants, the organisation 

will make reasonable adjustments to work provisions, criteria and practices or to work premises in order to 

ensure that the disabled person is not placed at a substantial disadvantage in comparison with persons who 

are not disabled. ChildHope is currently based in an office with reasonable access already in place and with 

which we feel confident we would be able to make reasonable changes if needed. We plan to move to new 

premises with our current landlords (Ethical Property) in 2018 and expect that, as we will be moving into a 

newly refurbished building, accessibility will be improved. 

 

If it is necessary to assess whether personal circumstances will affect the performance of the job (for example, 

if the job involves unsociable hours or extensive travel), this will be discussed objectively, listening to the 

applicant themselves rather than making assumptions. 

Employee information 

All ChildHope staff are kept informed on matters of concern to them through a range of methods, collective 

and individual, including staff meetings, team meetings and one-to-one supervision meetings. Decision-making 

within the organization is carried out on a number of levels, including whole-organisation consultation, Senior 

Management Team and Board meetings.  Opportunities are given to consult with staff and allow staff to voice 

their views and considerations regarding decisions to be made which affect them. Strategic change is explored 

and agreed taking into consideration the views of all staff through a collective review process.   
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Childhope has a transparent financial system which allows the staff group to view the financial performance 

of the organisation on a monthly basis. This system is in the process of being updated so that detailed financial 

information is more accessible and ‘user-friendly’ for non-finance team members.  Longer-term challenges and 

opportunities that affect the organisation are discussed openly and the team is aware of ChildHope’s overall 

financial health and prospects. 

Statement of responsibilities of the trustees 
 

The trustees (who are also directors of ChildHope (UK) for the purposes of company law) are responsible for 

preparing the trustees’ annual report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 

United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

  

Company law requires the trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true 

and fair view of the state of affairs of the charitable company and of the incoming resources and application  

of resources, including the income and expenditure, of the charitable company for that period. In preparing 

these financial statements, the trustees are required to: 

 

● Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently 

● Observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP 

● Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent 

● State whether applicable UK Accounting Standards and statements of recommended practice have been 

followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements 

● Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that 

the charity will continue in operation 

 

The trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at 

any time the financial position of the charitable company and enable them to ensure that the financial 

statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 

charitable company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 

irregularities.  In so far as the trustees are aware: 

 

● There is no relevant audit information of which the charitable company’s auditors are unaware 

● The trustees have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any 

relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information 

 

The trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information 

included on the charitable company's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation 

and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

 

Members of the charity guarantee to contribute an amount not exceeding £1 to the assets of the charity in the 

event of winding up. The total number of such guarantees at 31 December 2017 was 8 (2016: 

10). The trustees are members of the charity but this entitles them only to voting rights. The trustees have no 

beneficial interest in the charity. 

 

Auditor 
 

Following a tendering process, Sayer Vincent LLP were re-appointed as the charitable company's auditor during 

the year and have expressed their willingness to continue in that capacity. 
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The trustees’ annual report has been approved by the trustees on 24th April and signed on their behalf by  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Charlie Middleton 

Chair 
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Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of ChildHope (UK) (the ‘charitable company’) for the year ended 31 

December 2017 which comprise the statement of financial activities, balance sheet, statement of cash flows 

and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial 

reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom 

Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard 

applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

 

In our opinion, the financial statements: 

● Give a true and fair view of the state of the charitable company’s affairs as at 31 December 2017 and 

of its incoming resources and application of resources, including its income and expenditure, for the 

year then ended 

● Have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 

Practice 

● Have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 

 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 

applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the 

charitable company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 

financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard and we have fulfilled our other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Conclusions relating to going concern 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to 

report to you where: 

● The trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 

statements is not appropriate; or 

● The trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that 

may cast significant doubt about the charitable company’s ability to continue to adopt the going 

concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial 

statements are authorised for issue. 

 

Other information 
The other information comprises the information included in the trustees’ annual report other than the 

financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The trustees are responsible for the other 

information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the 

extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 

and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 

statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we 

identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine 

whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other 

information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 

this other information, we are required to report that fact.  
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We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

● The information given in the trustees’ annual report, for the financial year for which the financial 

statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements 

● The trustees’ annual report has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements 

   

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the charitable company and its environment obtained in 

the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the trustees’ annual report. 

 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 

requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

● Adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been 

received from branches not visited by us; or 

● The financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

● Certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

● We have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or 

● The trustees were not entitled to prepare the financial statements in accordance with the small 

companies regime and take advantage of the small companies’ exemptions in preparing the trustees’ 

annual report and from the requirement to prepare a strategic report.  

  

Responsibilities of trustees 
As explained more fully in the statement of trustees’ responsibilities set out in the trustees’ annual report, 

the trustees (who are also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are 

responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and 

fair view, and for such internal control as the trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are responsible for assessing the charitable company’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting unless the trustees either intend to liquidate the charitable company 

or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
This report is made solely to the charitable company's members as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of 

Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 

charitable company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for 

no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 

anyone other than the charitable company and the charitable company's members as a body, for our audit 

work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 

conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
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Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 

they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 

financial statements. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (UK), we exercise professional judgment and maintain 

professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

● Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 

a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 

involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 

control. 

● Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 

● Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the trustees. 

● Conclude on the appropriateness of the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 

to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 

our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 

report. However, future events or conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going 

concern. 

● Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 

that we identify during our audit. 

 

 

 

 

Jonathan Orchard (Senior statutory auditor)  

3 May 2018 

for and on behalf of Sayer Vincent LLP, Statutory Auditor 

Invicta House, 108-114 Golden Lane, LONDON, EC1Y 0TL  

 



2017 2016

Unrestricted Restricted Total Unrestricted Restricted Total

Note £ £ £ £ £ £

Income from:

2 178,253 2,191,475 2,369,728 311,382 2,293,710 2,605,092

6,625 - 6,625 7,950 - 7,950

- 392,189 392,189 - 400,988 400,988

209 - 209 541 - 541

88 - 88 56 - 56

185,175 2,583,664 2,768,839 319,929 2,694,698 3,014,627

3 126,277 - 126,277 155,107 - 155,107

3 - 1,803,429 1,803,429 - 2,072,863 2,072,863

3 187,225 780,235 967,460 74,852 621,835 696,687

313,502 2,583,664 2,897,166 229,959 2,694,698 2,924,657

4 (128,327) - (128,327) 89,970 - 89,970

Reconciliation of funds:

464,550 - 464,550 374,580 - 374,580

336,223 - 336,223 464,550 - 464,550

Reducing and preventing violence 

against children

Capacity building

Investments: bank interest

Other

Total income

Expenditure on:

Childhope (UK)

Statement of financial activities (incorporating an income and expenditure account)

For the year ended 31 December 2017

Donations and legacies

Charitable activities

Management of projects

Workshops and consultancy

Raising funds

Total expenditure

Charitable activities

Total funds brought forward

Total funds carried forward

All of the above results are derived from continuing activities. There were no other recognised gains or losses other than those stated above. 

Movements in funds are disclosed in Note 18 to the financial statements.

Net movement in funds
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2017 2016

Note £ £ £ £

Fixed assets:

9 1,112 3,575

1,112 3,575

Current assets:

10 89,910 83,630

105,133 105,003

407,718 1,028,208

602,761 1,216,841

Liabilities:

11 267,650 755,866

335,111 460,975

13 336,223 464,550

18

- -

336,223 464,550

Total unrestricted funds 336,223 464,550-

336,223 464,550

General funds

Approved by the trustees on 24 April 2018 and signed on their behalf by

Total charity funds

Chair

…………………………………………………………

Charlie Middleton

Childhope (UK)

As at 31 December 2017

Cash at bank and in hand

Short term bank deposits

Tangible assets

Balance sheet

Company no. 2343358

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Net current assets

Total net assets 

Restricted income funds

Unrestricted income funds:

The funds of the charity:

Debtors
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Statement of cash flows

Note

£ £ £ £

14

(620,490) (297,247)

- (1,140)

- (1,140)

(620,490) (298,387)

1,028,208 1,326,595

15 407,718 1,028,208

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 

year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the year

Childhope (UK)

For the year ended 31 December 2017

2017 2016

Cash flows from operating activities

Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities

Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of fixed assets
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1

a)

b)

c)

d)

Basis of preparation

Assets and liabilities are initially recognised at historical cost or transaction value unless otherwise stated in

the relevant accounting policy or note.

Public benefit entity

Going concern

Childhope (UK)

For the year ended 31 December 2017

Accounting policies

For legacies, entitlement is taken as the earlier of the date on which either: the charity is aware that probate 

has been granted, the estate has been finalised and notification has been made by the executor(s) to the 

charity that a distribution will be made, or when a distribution is received from the estate. Receipt of a 

legacy, in whole or in part, is only considered probable when the amount can be measured reliably and the 

charity has been notified of the executor’s intention to make a distribution. Where legacies have been 

notified to the charity, or the charity is aware of the granting of probate, and the criteria for income 

recognition have not been met, then the legacy is a treated as a contingent asset and disclosed if material.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Accounting and Reporting by Charities:

Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the

Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 January

2015) - (Charities SORP FRS 102), the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of

Ireland (FRS 102) and the Companies Act 2006.

Income received in advance of the provision of a specified service is deferred until the criteria for income 

recognition are met. Project income received in advance of the peoject's funded period is deferred, where 

the funded period falls after the reporting period, or where there is a reasonable prospect that the project 

budget will need to be revised and the funded period will fall after the reporting period as a result.

Notes to the financial statements

Income from government and other grants, whether ‘capital’ grants or ‘revenue’ grants, is recognised when 

the charity has entitlement to the funds, any performance conditions attached to the grants have been met, 

it is probable that the income will be received and the amount can be measured reliably and is not deferred.

The trustees do not consider that there are any sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that 

have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

within the next reporting period.

The trustees consider that there are no material uncertainties about the charitable company's ability to 

continue as a going concern.

Income

Income is recognised when the charity has entitlement to the funds, any performance conditions attached to 

the income have been met, it is probable that the income will be received and that the amount can be 

measured reliably.

Key judgements that the charitable company has made which have a significant effect on the accounts 

include estimating future income, expenditure, and cashflows.

The charitable company meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102.
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Childhope (UK)

For the year ended 31 December 2017

Notes to the financial statements

1

e)

f)

g)

h)







i)









j)

Accounting policies (continued)

Unrestricted funds are donations and other incoming resources received or generated for the charitable 

purposes.

Donations of gifts, services and facilities

Fund accounting

Expenditure and irrecoverable VAT

Fundraising costs 22%

On receipt, donated gifts, professional services and donated facilities are recognised on the basis of the 

value of the gift to the charity which is the amount the charity would have been willing to pay to obtain 

services or facilities of equivalent economic benefit on the open market; a corresponding amount is then 

recognised in expenditure in the period of receipt.

Interest receivable

Interest on funds held on deposit is included when receivable and the amount can be measured reliably by 

the charity; this is normally upon notification of the interest paid or payable by the bank.

69%

7%

2%

Rental charges are charged on a straight line basis over the term of the lease.

Where such information about the aims, objectives and projects of the charity is provided to potential 

donors, activity costs are apportioned between fundraising and charitable activities on the basis of area of 

literature occupied by each activity.

Designated funds are unrestricted funds earmarked by the trustees for particular purposes.

Donated professional services and donated facilities are recognised as income when the charity has control 

over the item or received the service, any conditions associated with the donation have been met, the receipt 

of economic benefit from the use by the charity of the item is probable and that economic benefit can be 

measured reliably. In accordance with the Charities SORP (FRS 102), volunteer time is not recognised so refer 

to the trustees’ annual report for more information about their contribution.

Restricted funds are to be used for specific purposes as laid down by the donor.  Expenditure which meets 

these criteria is charged to the fund.

Costs of raising funds relate to the costs incurred by the charitable company in inducing third parties to 

make voluntary contributions to it, as well as the cost of any activities with a fundraising purpose

Expenditure on charitable activities includes the costs incurred to further the purposes of the charity 

and their associated support costs

Other expenditure represents those items not falling into any other heading

Resources expended are allocated to the particular activity where the cost relates directly to that activity.  

However, the cost of overall direction and administration of each activity, comprising the salary and 

overhead costs of the central function, is apportioned on the following basis which are an estimate, based on 

staff time, of the amount attributable to each activity.

Irrecoverable VAT is charged as a cost against the activity for which the expenditure was incurred.

Operating leases

Allocation of support costs

Capacity building and support

Support costs

Governance costs

Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to make a payment to a third party, 

it is probable that settlement will be required and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably. 

Expenditure is classified under the following activity headings:
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Childhope (UK)

For the year ended 31 December 2017

Notes to the financial statements

1

k)



l)

m)

n)

o)

2

2017 2016

Unrestricted Total Total

£ £ £ £

159,945 2,191,475 2,351,420 2,513,066

5,308 - 5,308 63,855

13,000 - 13,000 28,171

178,253 2,191,475 2,369,728 2,605,092

Gifts, grants, and donations include a large number of gifts from institutional donors, individuals, and 

corporates. The charity is particularly grateful to the Department for International Development (funding a 

number of projects, including the Girls Education Challenge project), and Comic Relief (funding our work 

with partners in Africa, Asia, and Latin America).

Debtors

Trade and other debtors are recognised at the settlement amount due after any trade discount offered. 

Prepayments are valued at the amount prepaid net of any trade discounts due.

Cash at bank and in hand

Cash at bank and cash in hand includes cash and short term highly liquid investments with a short maturity 

of three months or less from the date of acquisition or opening of the deposit or similar account.  

3-5 yearsComputer and office equipment

Creditors and provisions are recognised where the charity has a present obligation resulting from a past 

event that will probably result in the transfer of funds to a third party and the amount due to settle the 

obligation can be measured or estimated reliably. Creditors and provisions are normally recognised at their 

settlement amount after allowing for any trade discounts due.

Legacies

Donated services

Restricted

Tangible fixed assets

Items of equipment are capitalised where the purchase price exceeds £100. Assets that are purchased out of 

restricted funds are not capitalised, except where the donor allows for the asset to be depreciated over the 

life of the asset. Depreciation costs are allocated to activities on the basis of the use of the related assets in 

those activities. Assets are reviewed for impairment if circumstances indicate their carrying value may 

exceed their net realisable value and value in use.

Creditors and provisions

Income from donations and legacies

Pensions

The charity has auto-enrolled all staff into the Government's Workplace Pension Scheme NEST.  The Pensions 

Regulator's requirements are that the employer has a duty to meet the minimum requirements in that total 

contributions of 2 per cent of an employees' pensionable pay are paid into their employees' pension funds. 

ChildHope matches employee contributions of up to 5% of pensionable salary subject to the employee also 

paying 5%. The charitable company has no liability under the scheme other than for the payment of those 

contributions.

The charity only has financial assets and financial liabilities of a kind that qualify as basic financial 

instruments. Basic financial instruments are initially recognised at transaction value and subsequently 

measured at their settlement value.

Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write down the cost of each asset to its estimated residual 

value over its expected useful life. The depreciation rates in use are as follows:

Accounting policies (continued)

Gifts, grants, and donations
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3

Cost of 

raising 

funds

Reducing and 

preventing 

violence against 

children

Capacity 

building

Governance 

costs

Support 

costs

2017 

Total

2016     

Total
£ £ £ £ £ £ £

Staff costs (Note 5) 66,002 - 346,844 10,377 36,437 459,660 464,921
Other staff costs 5,574 - - - 10,481 16,055 13,727
Distributions to partners Africa - 965,928 93,783 - - 1,059,711 1,452,777
Distributions to partners Asia - 671,346 - - - 671,346 525,271
Distributions to partners South America - 166,155 - - - 166,155 94,815
Other programme costs general - - 10,989 - - 10,989 13,440
Other programme costs Africa - - 293,877 - - 293,877 161,920
Other programme costs Asia - - 90,495 - - 90,495 52,381
Other programme costs South America - - 3,674 - - 3,674 6,546
Fundraising costs 17,381 - - - - 17,381 19,204
Office & premises costs 25,308 - 64,680 1,935 6,795 98,718 111,280
Audit & accountancy - - - 8,586 - 8,586 8,300
Travel & subsistence - - - - - - -
Trustees' costs - - - 519 - 519 75
Trustees' reimbursed expenses - - - - - - -

114,265 1,803,429 904,342 21,417 53,713 2,897,166 2,924,657

Support costs 8,377 - 44,019 1,317 (53,713) - -

Governance costs 3,635 - 19,099 (22,734) - - -

Total expenditure 2017 126,277 1,803,429 967,460 - - 2,897,166 2,924,657

Total expenditure 2016 155,107 2,072,863 696,687 - - -

Childhope (UK)

Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2017

Of the total expenditure, £313,502 was unrestricted (2016: £229,959) and £2,583,664 was restricted (2016: £2,694,698).

Analysis of expenditure 

Charitable activities
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2017 2016

£ £

2,463 2,839

- -

53,291 47,810

8,586 8,300

22 345

5

2017 2016

£ £

424,241 412,785

33,217 41,911

2,202 10,225

459,660 464,921

6

2017 2016

No. No.

1.5 2.2

8.0 10.0

9.5 12.2

Childhope (UK)

For the year ended 31 December 2017

Loss or profit on disposal of fixed assets

Capacity building and support

Notes to the financial statements

Net incoming resources for the year

Operating lease rentals:

Auditors' remuneration (excluding VAT):

This is stated after charging / crediting:

Depreciation

Property

Employer’s contribution to defined contribution pension schemes

Audit

Foreign exchange gains

Analysis of staff costs, trustee remuneration and expenses, and the cost of key management 

personnel

Staff costs were as follows:

Salaries and wages

The average number of employees (head count based on number of staff employed) during the year 

was 18 (2016: 14). The full time equivalent number of staff was as follows:

Social security costs

Staff numbers

The charity trustees were not paid and did not receive any other benefits from employment with the 

charity in the year (2016: £nil).  No charity trustee received payment for professional or other services 

supplied to the charity (2016: £nil).

No employee earned more than £60,000 during the year (2016: nil).

The total employee benefits including pension contributions of the key management personnel were 

124,077 (2016: £166,419). Key management personnel included 4 members of the SMT in 2017 (2016: 

5 members).

Raising funds and publicity
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Notes to the financial statements

7

8

9
Computer and 

office 

equipment

£

29,147

-

29,147

25,572

2,463

28,035

1,112

3,575

Tangible fixed assets

Taxation

Two trustees were reimbursed out of pocket expenses amounting to £804 (2016: No trustees received 

any reimbursements).

There are no donations from related parties which are outside the normal course of business and no 

restricted donations from related parties.

Cost or valuation

Depreciation

The charitable company is exempt from corporation tax as all its income is charitable and is applied for 

charitable purposes.

At the end of the year

At the end of the year

At the start of the year

Charge for the year

At the start of the year

Additions in year

Net book value

Related party transactions

At the end of the year

At the start of the year

The charity does not own any land or buildings.

All of the above assets are used for charitable purposes.
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Notes to the financial statements

10
2017 2016

£ £

6,402 -

2,027 3,490

81,481 80,140

89,910 83,630

11
2017 2016

£ £

8,408 30,853

8,328 16,734

250,914 708,279

267,650 755,866

12

13

General 

unrestricted Restricted Total funds

£ £ £ £

1,112 - - 1,112

335,111 - - 335,111

336,223 - - 336,223

General 

unrestricted Restricted Total funds

£ £ £ £

3,575 - - 3,575

460,975 - - 460,975

464,550 - - 464,550

Net current assets

Designated

Analysis of net assets between funds (2016)

Designated

Tangible fixed assets

Net assets at the end of the year

Net current assets

Tangible fixed assets

Debtors

Trade debtors

Other debtors

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Prepayments and accrued income

Net assets at the end of the year

Pension scheme

The charity has auto-enrolled all staff into the Government's Workplace Pension Scheme NEST.  The 

Pensions Regulator's requirements are that the employer has a duty to meet the minimum requirements 

in that total contributions of 2 per cent of an employees' pensionable pay are paid into their employees' 

pension funds. ChildHope matches employee contributions of up to 5% of pensionable salary subject to 

the employee also paying 5%.

Analysis of net assets between funds

Other creditors

Accruals

Project accruals and deferred income
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For the year ended 31 December 2017

Notes to the financial statements

14

2017 2016

£ £

Net income / (expenditure) for the reporting period (128,327) 89,970

(as per the statement of financial activities)

Depreciation charges 2,463 2,839

Interest from long term deposits (130) (342)

(Increase)/decrease in debtors (6,280) 85,970

Increase/(decrease) in creditors (488,216) (475,684)

Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities (620,490) (297,247)

15 Analysis of cash and cash equivalents
At 1 January 

2017 Cash flows Other changes

£ £ £ £

Cash in hand 448 (10) - 438

Current account balances 1,027,760 (620,479) - 407,281

Total cash and cash equivalents 1,028,208 (620,489) - 407,718
-

16

2017 2016 2017 2016

£ £ £ £

5,912 5,912 2,952 2,952

- - - -

5,912 5,912 2,952 2,952

17

At 31 December 

2017

Legal status of the charity

The charity is a company limited by guarantee and has no share capital.  The liability of each member 

in the event of winding up is limited to £1.

Less than one year

One to five years

Operating lease commitments

Property Equipment

The charity's total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases is as follows 

for each of the following periods

Reconciliation of net income / (expenditure) to net cash flow from operating activities
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ChildHope (UK)

Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2017

18. Movement in funds

City Country Main activities Note

At the start 

of the year 

Incoming 

resources

Outgoing 

resources

At the end 

of the year
£ £ £ £

Africa

Gulu Uganda Education and Protection of Children and Young People

(EPCYP

a - 2,049 (2,049) -

Addis Ethiopia CHADET strengthened to respond to the needs and rights

of children and young people.

b - 51 (51) -

Addis Ethiopia Girls Education Challenge Fund - supporting 16,500 girls to

enrol, stay and thrive in schools

c - 189,250 (189,250) -

Addis Ethiopia Girls Education Challenge Fund - supporting 16,500 girls to

transition to secondary, tertiary, vocational education

d - 696,736 (696,736) -

Addis Ethiopia Research (ESRC) e - 32,785 (32,785) -

Nairobi Kenya Protecting the rights of street connected children and

young people in Nairobi

f - 272,338 (272,338) -

Freetown Sierra Leone Ending the cycle of children and families working on

rubbish dumps in Freetown

g - 274,156 (274,156) -

Busia/Malaba-

Kampala 

highway route

Uganda Working with commercially sexually exploited girls to

improve education and life chances

h - 87,640 (87,640) -

- 1,555,005 (1,555,005) -

Organisation for Child 

Development and 

Transformation (CHADET)

CHADET

Pendekezo Letu

Street Child Sierra Leone 

(ScoSL)

Restricted funds carried forward

URHB (Allan & Nesta)

Overseas Partner Agency

Kitgum Concerned Women's 

Association (KICWA)

CHADET

CHADET
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2017

18. Movement in funds (continued)

City Country Main activities

At the start 

of the year 

Incoming 

resources

Outgoing 

resources

At the end 

of the year

£ £ £ £

Butterflies Delhi India Investment Grant i - 613,465 (613,465) -

Kolkata India Maternal and child pre- and post-natal care and nutrition j - 61,852 (61,852) -

Gram Bangla Dhaka Bangladesh Working with children and parents on the Matuail dumpsite k - 146,307 (146,307) -

Kathmandu Nepal Education support for children affected by the 2015

earthquake

l - 8,009 (8,009) -

- 829,633 (829,633) -

South America

Cusco Peru Quality & Equality in Education Project m - 134,110 (134,110) -

Lima Peru Improving Education and Protection of Children n - 64,914 (64,914) -

- 199,024 (199,024) -

- 2,583,662 (2,583,662) -

General funds 464,550 185,175 (313,502) 336,223

Total unrestricted funds 464,550 185,175 (313,502) 336,223

Total funds 464,550 2,768,837 (2,897,164) 336,223

Children in Need Institute 

(CINI)

AMHAUTA

Voice of Children

Overseas Partner Agency

Asia

CESIP

Total restricted funds
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ChildHope (UK)

Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2017

18. Movement in funds (continued)

a

b

c

d

e

f

g

h

i

j

k

l

m

n

Funded by DFID, this project is part of the Girls' Education Challenge Transiting Fund. The project is a follow on from the step change project, supporting some of the most maginalised girls 

to enrol, stay, and thrive in secondary schools and tertiary institutions. For a small number of girls, the project will support them to transition into livelihood and employability.

This is a research partnership with the University of Brighton / ESRC, looking at young people's coping mechanisms.

Funded by DFID, this project is part of the Girls' Education Challenge step change initiative. The project with our partner is to support some of the most maginalised girls to enrol, stay, and 

thrive in school.

Notes

This project was to increase access to education and promote protection and livelihoods of the most disadvantaged children and young people, including those with disabilities, in post-war 

northern Uganda.

This is ongoing work with our partner CHADET, funded by Comic Relief through a strategic grant, to support them through organisational development, through a time of change and 

growth.

Funded by Comic Relief, our partner Pendekezo Letu (PKL) offer rehabilition support to girls living and working on the dumpsites and streets of Nairobi. The project also supports their 

siblings and carers to provide a safe home environment to which they can return, and continue their education.

The project is funded by Comic Relief, to promote education opportunities and improved livelihoods for children and young people and their families.

This project is funded by BLF. The project is to reduce sexual exploitation of girls migrating to a major transit route frequented by long distance truck drivers.

Funded by Comic Relief, this grant enables our partner Butterflies to deliever a children's finance management and lifeskills project with international partners across Asia and Africa. The 

grant is also to strengthen overall organisational structures and systems, including in relation to programme delivery, monitoring and evaluation, compliance, and general governance.

Funded by DFID, the project aims to improve access to maternal health care services and raising awareness of the dangers of child delivery without a qualified practition and/or outside a 

clinical environment.

This project is funded by BLF, for our partner Gram Bangla to provide day care, primary education, and vocational training to children on the Matuail dumpsite in Dhaka. It also supports 

parents and the community to more effectively protect and care for  their children.

This project is funded separately, by BLF, to work within the education system in Peru to improve the quality of education for indigenous children, through improved awareness of the 

specific needs of children, improving safeguarding system in education, and working with parents to enhance the value that they place on education for their children.

Funded by Aberdeen Asset Management, the project is to improve child safeguarding and the quality of education, through raising awareness of the needs of children in education, 

improving safeguarding systems, and working with local authorities and parents to establish better practice.

The project was cofunded by JOAC (main funder), Thomas Cook, and Navchetna for our partner to provide education materials such books and bags to encourage children to go back to 

school, and to repair and renovate schools in rural areas around Kathmandu valley.
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18. Movement in funds (continued) (2016)

City Country Main activities

At the start 

of the year 

Incoming 

resources

Outgoing 

resources

At the end 

of the year
£ £ £ £

Africa

Kenema Sierra Leone Developing income generating activities with 165 families

in Kenema, East Sierra Leone.

- 7,555 (7,555) -

Gulu Uganda Education and Protection of Children and Young People

(EPCYP

- 54,613 (54,613) -

Addis Ethiopia CHADET strengthened to respond to the needs and rights

of children and young people.

- 35 (35) -

Addis Ethiopia Girls Education Challenge Fund - supporting 16,500 girls to

enrol, stay and thrive in schools

- 1,226,670 (1,226,670) -

Nairobi Kenya Reintegration, education and support for marginalised

street girls and boys

- 800 (800) -

Nairobi Kenya Protecting the rights of street connected children and

young people in Nairobi.

- 215,697 (215,697) -

Country wide - 

in 5 towns 

Sierra Leone Ebola Response-Emergency funds . - 236,044 (236,044) -

Moshi Tanzania Capacity Building - Child Protection and KCS - 12,828 (12,828) -

Busia/Malaba-

Kampala 

highway route

Uganda Working with commercially sexually exploited girls to

improve education and life chances

- 123,297 (123,297) -

Busia/Malaba-

Kampala 

highway route

Uganda Working with commercially sexually exploited girls to

improve education and life chances

- 9,595 (9,595) -

Busia/Malaba-

Kampala 

highway route

Uganda Working with commercially sexually exploited girls to

improve education and life chances

- 2,821 (2,821) -

- 1,889,955 (1,889,955) -

Kitgum Concerned Women's 

Association (KICWA)

Tusonge

Pendekezo Letu

Restricted funds carried forward

Pendekezo Letu

URHB (BLF)

URHB (Allan & Nesta)

URHB (Evan Cornish)

Street Child Sierra Leone 

(ScoSL)

Overseas Partner Agency

Organisation for Child 

Development and 

Transformation (CHADET)

Future Focus Foundation

CHADET
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18. Movement in funds (continued) (2016)

City Country Main activities

At the start 

of the year 

Incoming 

resources

Outgoing 

resources

At the end 

of the year

£ £ £ £

Butterflies Delhi India Children's Development Khazana - 8,070 (8,070) -

Butterflies Delhi India Investment Grant - 345,470 (345,470) -

Kolkata India Maternal and child pre- and post-natal care and nutrition - 69,046 (69,046) -

Gram Bangla
Dhaka Bangladesh Working with children and parents on the Matuail dumpsite - 131,278 (131,278) -

Gram Bangla Dhaka Bangladesh Working with children and parents on the Matuail dumpsite - 131,278 (131,278) -

Gram Bangla Dhaka Bangladesh Working with children and parents on the Matuail dumpsite - 131,278 (131,278) -

Dhaka Bangladesh Community based informal education centre for vulnerable

children

- 51,956 (51,956) -

Salam Balak Mumbai India Education and reunification of street connect children - 1,182 (1,182) -

Karnataka India Improving the lives of working children in Karnataka - 2,707 (2,707) -

Kathmandu India Improving the lives of working children in Karnataka - 64,346 (64,346) -

- 936,611 (936,611) -

South America

Cusco Peru Quality & Equality in Education Project - 90,247 (90,247) -

Lima Peru Improving Education and Protection of Children - 38,259 (38,259) -

Rio de Janeiro Brazil Practicing Sport, Winning in Life - 2,182 (2,182) -

- 130,688 (130,688) -

- 2,957,254 (2,957,254) -

General funds 374,580 319,929 (229,959) 464,551

Total unrestricted funds 374,580 319,929 (229,959) 464,551

Total funds 374,580 3,277,183 (3,187,213) 464,551

Total restricted funds

AMHAUTA

Promundo

Overseas Partner Agency

Asia

Voice of Children

Nagorik Uddyog

CESIP

The  Concerned for Working 

Children (CWC)

Children in Need Institute 

(CINI)
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